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OUR HONEYMOON




Ralph and I were married July 8, 1943.   We had been sweethearts for four years, high school and work and then in February 1943, he joined the AAF.   He came home on leave in July from Texas.   I had told my mother if he asked me to marry him again, I was saying "yes" and joy, joy, he did!   I went back with him where he was stationed in Salt Lake City.   That was our honeymoon!
We traveled through beautiful Colorado.   We stopped once and some young AAF men came running up to Ralph, and greeted him calling him "Clark".   We weren't  there very long until the conductor was calling "all aboard".   Ralph's  friends begged to get in the same car with us, so we had company the rest of the trip.   I asked Ralph why his friends were calling him Clark, and he said, "They think I look like Clark Gable."   I told him, "Honey, I think you do too!"
We met another couple, Wayne and Tiny, when we arrived in Salt Lake City.   We rented sleeping rooms in a private home.   We had a beautiful back yard with a huge apricot tree and they were delicious.   I gained weight sunbathing and eating.
We were going to the movies the following day to see "I Left My Sugar in Salt
Lake City".    Can you believe that was the way it would be??   As we crossed the street, Ralph said, "There are all my buddies   standing over there to meet you."   They were such a great group!   I prayed for them from that time and especially when they left for overseas.
Ralph was gone every day to the airfield so I decided to get a job.   He knew I was going that day, and as he left for the field, he laughingly said, "Don't be a private secretary!"   The first place I applied, the man's secretary was on vacation and he really needed someone.    He hired me and on the way home, I remembered what Ralph had said. I was glad he had been joking.
Tiny and I didn't know it until later, but our husbands were getting passes to come home every night through their friends.   One night they told us it was their last night to come home.   We knew that meant they were shipping out for overseas, but they did get to come back one more night, but only to stay long enough to tell us goodbye.   It was so emotional but we treasured every moment.   Our honeymoon had ended. . .
As they were walking down the street, we watched them as far as we could see
them.   I prayed, "Dear Lord, if Ralph is ever in trouble, please let me know."    God answered that prayer months later.
I returned to Oklahoma City and applied for a job at the Douglas Plant.   I decided I wanted to be a "riveter" and be as close to helping in the war as I could. 	After only two days of training, I knew that wasn't my calling. 	I was trained in office work and I went to work as a comptometer operator at the Douglas Plant office.
Ralph was shipped to Africa and had moved to their new base in Italy.   He had flown missions over the Balkans and different places in Italy.   He was an upper turret gunner and was flying many missions.
Since I was working the swing shift, I didn't get home until nearly 12:30 or 1:30 a.m.   My sister, Ardyce, and I were living together.   One night after praying and going to bed, I had an experience I had never had, and have never had since.   I was awakened with the power of God lifting me out of bed and putting me on my knees!
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I was praying and crying asking God to spare Ralph's life.   My sister told me I was going to awaken everybody in the building.   I asked her to help me pray, but she wasn't living for the Lord at that time.   The burden of prayer was so great for Ralph.   Even though it lasted only a few minutes, I was exhausted and perspiring from head to toe.
I knew something had happened to Ralph!
The next morning, I went to my desk and flipped my calendar to January 27th
I circled that date several times with a red pen.   Ralph's letters kept coming and then suddenly nothing.  I felt a loneliness.
One night, while I was working at the Douglas Plant, Ralph's mother called me and
said, "Evie, we just got a telegram and Ralph is missing in action."  That message, "MISSING IN ACTION" is such a shocking one!   My father-in-law came and I stayed all night with them.   Alice and Dad, as I called them, prayed.
The next morning, I went back to my apartment and even though I had read the telegram over and over, I just couldn't believe it was "My Ralphie" missing in action.
I had the telegram in my hand and I was standing in front of my desk when I suddenly remembered my experience that I had a few weeks before.   I looked at the date, missing in action January 27.   I just knew that was the date I had marked on my desk calendar.
I flipped the pages to that date and there it was, circled in red.
A feeling of great awe swept over me.   Aloud I said, "Lord, you didn't give me that burden for nothing.   I'm going to believe that Ralph is alive and even though I don't know where he is, you know.   I believe that you will watch over him and keep him and bring him safely home.  I'm going to walk in faith that you will."   Oh, what peace filled my heart!
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RALPH HOLTZCLAW EVELYN HOLTZCLAW TESTIMONY
MUSTANG ASSEMBLY OF GOD CHURCH
1993




Pastor McNabb speaks:

. ..And I have asked for him to come this night and to share with us this experience. Did I say 16 years?   If I did it, I meant sixteen months.   Did I say World War I?   It was the Civil War, excuse me.   (Laughter)   In World War II, he spent sixteen months in a POW camp.   And they are going to share their testimony with us tonight.   These are gracious people.   Let's make them feel welcome as they come at this time.   (Prolonged Applause)

Ralph Holtzclaw speaks:

You may be seated.   First we would like to take this opportunity to thank our Brother McNabb for this privilege of standing behind this desk.   I've been here about a year now, almost, and I've heard how jealous he is of this place and so I can't really blame him, because he does such a fine job too.   (Amen by Evelyn).   And I just appreciate the fact that he allowed us to take this time to minister to you with our testimony.   My wife says she would like to say something.

Evelyn Holtzclaw speaks:

I say the same thing.   I appreciate Brother McNabb letting us share this testimony. We serve a great God, and I tell you, you can feel His power on any side of the world. When Ralph was on one side and I was on the other, God was in both places.    I will bless the Lord at all times.   His praise shall continually be in my mouth.   Jeremiah said when he was praying, "Oh, Lord God, thou has made the heavens and the earth.   Thy great power and stretched out arm.   There is nothing too hard for thee."   And God in answering his prayer said, "I am the God of all flesh, is there anything too hard for me?"   I think Ralph's going to say something about a celebration here.

Ralph Holtzclaw speaks:

I was going to do that in just a few minutes, but she prompted me a little quicker, so I'll just go ahead.   In four days time, my wife and I will have been married fifty years. It will be our fiftieth anniversary.    (Applause)
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Evelyn speaks:

I told Brother McNabb when we walked up here, Ralph might have had a stroke and (may move) a little slower, but we haven't  stopped.   And I tell you, Ralph and I walk better together, don't  we honey?



Ralph speaks:

That 's right.   Truly it has been a wonderful time.   I just can't hardly believe that it has been fifty years.   Really, I can't even hardly think that I am fifty years old.
(Laughter)   But anyway, that's  the way it goes, isn't it?

I would like to read a Psalm for you.   It is found in the 102nd Psalm, verses 19 and
20.   "For He hath looked down from the height of his sanctuary, did the Lord behold the earth, to hear the groaning of the prisoners, to those that were appointed unto death."

I am truly glad that God hears and answers prayer.   And I tell you this is about answer to prayer.   As a matter of fact, me being here is an answer to prayer.   And I am truly grateful for this privilege of standing here tonight, to honor the country in which I served.   I really was in a sweat there for a minute.   Being a little older than fifty there, wasn't I?   Going back to World War I?   But I am glad it was just World War II.

It was in early February of 1943, that I volunteered for the Air Force.   It was called the Air Corps at that time.   For about six months then I was in training at different places, at basic training at Sheppard Field, Texas, then on to Laredo, Texas for a gunnery school that trained me to be an upper turret gunner.   And then this last camp that I went to was at Salt Lake City.   We were shipped there for the last and final training before I was to be shipped overseas.

Luckily, I received a furlough during this time, and I came back here to Oklahoma City and it was during this time of my furlough, that's when Evelyn and I... 	I asked her if she would marry me, and she said yes this time.   Now we had been going together for four years, off and on, and so it wasn't just a sudden premonition, but it was something that I had been wanting to do for a long time.   Finally she said yes and, praise the Lord, we have been happily married ever since.

After this time, as newlyweds, we left back to Salt Lake City for our honeymoon. I don 't think . . . there might be a few people here that are old enough to remember a song that was popular during this time, and it was called "I left my Sugar in Salt Lake City". (Laughter)

That's  the way it happened, and that's  the way it was, because I found myself on a troop train in the first part of August, headed towards the East Coast, and a ship that took us to North Africa.   Later we landed in a port on the Mediterranean, in Oran, North Africa.
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This, the month of August, was a month of transition for me.   They kept us on the move quite a bit.   I moved from Oran, to Tunis, and Algiers, and finally in Tunis I met up with my group that I was assigned to, the 32st  Bomb Group.   All the bomb group had already moved from North Africa, and they happened to be the first group to move into Italy and establish a base there.   About a week later, I also was joined in with the 446th Bomb Squadron.   This is a medium bomber group that flew B-25s.   This is the same type of plane that Billy Mitchell .. . (Oh, the Billy Mitchell...that is the name of the plane)...that Doolittle flew on the Tokyo raid, the B-25.   As a matter of fact he was the one who organized our group and brought it overseas.



My first bomb mission was from a town near/in Toronto, Italy, which is in the arch of the boot.   We bombed, and our targets mainly were the Baltic States.   We bombed airfields, railroad stations and shipping.   That was our main targets at this time.   Our ground forces there in Italy kept moving steadily up north and so we did too.   We moved closer to the lines.

Our next move was up the coast to Foggia.   Now this was in December and January, and the weather became quite a factor for the American troops at that time.   We had a lot of snow that year and we had a lot of clouds that kept our air support grounded, so consequently, the Germans had almost made a stalemate of our ground forces in Italy. 	So the Americans planned another invasion.   This was called the Anzio beachhead.   It was a place about thirty miles south of Rome that would come in behind the German lines.   So therefore we would infiltrate behind the German  lines, and it so happened that the 45th Division was the one that made this landing.   And this was part of the group that we were trying to protect by the air.

And on January the 22nd was when the first invasion came, and we flew about two missions a day, as often as we could, weather permitting.   On January the 27th of 1944, is the day that I will remember for the rest of my life.   Our target this day was a road-head junction. 	It was an S-curve, a big longS-curve that was on the side of a hill.   Now the Germans were using this road to bring in heavy equipment, tanks, anti-aircraft guns, and a lot of men, and they were bringing it in as fast as they could.   This is what our target was for the day.

Now the flak ....you all know what flak is, don't you?   You've seen pictures of flak, little black clouds that pop up in the air as you're flying through.   Now I'm telling you that flak is something just unreal.   It is a shell that is about 8" long, the projector is about that long.   It is made of spring steel and it's about 4" in diameter (these were, that the Germans were using, their 88s).   Now their tanks could tum their guns up and use them as anti-aircraft fire. 	Some of ours (tanks) could not do that, but their 88s were very accurate and that stuff would explode up there, that little old puff of smoke and
"Brr-room!"    You'd hear that heavy steel flak ... would just (gesturing) like that across the plane and the old plane would shudder.
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Today was a special day that our group put up fifteen planes.   And it so happened that I was a crew member in the lead plane of the formation.    On the intercom system, I could hear each of the men reporting to the pilot and co-pilot.   The navigator, the radio operator that had his waist guns, the tail gunner was in his place at the back.   I was in my upper turret.   I radioed in and just about that time I heard the bombardier say, "I've got the target in sight.   I am ready to take control of the plane".

About that time there was a terrible explosion up in the frontward part of the aircraft.   I could feel the heat of the flames coming over the top of the bomb bay.   Our plane just nosed toward the ground and the engines were speeding us to the ground hurriedly.   I knew that this was a terrible situation, and so I slid out of my turret down to the floor of the plane.   And ordinarily, all I could wear was....I just never could wear anything but a chest chute and I didn't have room for that even, so all I had on was a harness.

The harness (had) wide straps (and) right here in front were two metal rings.   The chest chute is a packet about the size, about a foot square, and it has two heavy steel snaps that are on the back of the parachute, and you just take that and you snap it on those two steel rings and then you are ready.

Well, I got down on my knees there beside the turret and ordinarily there is a little bracket that fits on the side of the bulkhead, and it has a strap that fits over the top of the parachute like a seatbelt, and you just pull that, and you are ready and in business.   But this particular plane happened to be a replacement plane that we were flying this day, because ours had gotten hit up the day before and so we were in a replacement plane.   And so this bracket was broke, and so the alternate plan was just to lay it right there on the floor, right there beside the turret and so that is what I did.   When I slid out of that turret, though, down on my knees, that parachute was nowhere to be seen.

"Oh, God!   Help me find my chute!"   I was praying, asking God's  help. Meanwhile, back here in Oklahoma City.....let me let my wife bring you up to date what was happening for her.

Evelyn speaks:

When I told my husband goodbye in Salt Lake City, I watched him walking down the street as far as I could see him.   I thought," I wonder what Ralph will experience before I see him again?"    So I prayed a one sentence prayer.   I said, "Oh, God, if Ralph is ever in extreme danger, please let me know".

So I returned to Oklahoma City and I wanted to be as close to the war as I could get without going into the service.    I wanted to.. .I thought I'd help build these airplanes so I decided I would be "Rosie the riveter" at the Douglass plant.   So I worked.   I trained a couple of days for that and I decided I better go back to my comptometer operating and work in the office instead.   So the day they hired me as a riveter, I had already transferred over to the office.   I worked the swing shift.
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On this particular night, I had gone home and I prayed as usual and got into bed and suddenly, I was sleeping.   But suddenly a power just reached down and picked me up and put me on my knees and I was just crying to God to spare Ralph's  life.   Oh, I prayed so loud, "Oh, God, spare his life!   Help him!"   You know, I was just crying and praying and interceding for him.   My sister said, "You are going to wake up everybody in this building". 	I said "Oh, help me pray!"   And I just kept right on praying.   And just in a few minutes, that burden lifted off of me, and I was perspiring from head to toe.   I knew something had happened to Ralph.   Well, my sister told my mother the next day, and said, "Evie's  having a nervous breakdown".

That next morning when I got up, I was standing before my desk, and I had a little flip calendar, and so I circled that date, January the 27th in red.   And I thought, if anything ever comes up, I sure want to remember that this was the night that I had this burden for
Ralph.

Ralph speaks:

Meanwhile, back on the Anzio beachhead, in the plane that was pell-melling to the ground at breakneck speed.....I was there beside my turret praying, "Oh, God, help me find this parachute!"



We had modified our plane to a degree.   When we first got the planes, there was a lower turret that the radio operator operated in.   It was a periscopic sight type turret, and it was very impractical.    So we took out that turret and just left the bulkheads there.   They were about two and a half feet high, and they were about three feet apart, and the width of the whole plane.

We had cut a hole in the side of the plane and mounted a fifty-caliber machine gun on either side.   And we had mounted the ammunition on a shelf that was right in front of my turret.   Now when the concussion of that shell exploding there in the front part (we had a direct hit of flak in the front pilot's compartment of our plane), the concussion was so great that my chute had bounced over that little partition about thirty inches high and landed right there on the floor in the center of this partition.

Now the waist gunner had all these cans of ammunition lined up, and they were all fifty-caliber linked together, and all that had dumped out onto the floor.   And there I was right there and I was praying, "Oh, God! Help me find my chute!"   A hand just drew my hand over to that pile of ammunition.    Miraculously, I picked all that ammunition up with one hand, and there was that chute underneath that pile of ammunition.   I took it out and I just praised God as I snapped that chute on to my harness that I already had on.

Out of the comer of my eye, I could see the tail gunner had moved forward from his position and was standing there by the escape hatch.   Now the escape hatch was about a four foot door that was in the floor of the plane about two and a half feet wide, and there
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was a handle on the side of the bulkhead there of the plane, a red handle.   If you turned that handle and pulled up on it, it pulled the hinge pins out of the door, that escape door, and it would just fall out and it would allow a man to just drop through it and escape from the plane.   That's what it was for.

Just as he had his hand there, all of the sudden there was another explosion.  God still had His hand on this plane.  Even though we were going down, He still had His hand on us there because there was another big explosion right behind the tail gunner.  How we lived through that, I'll never know.   I found while I was in the hospital this last time, that I do have a piece of flak there that I didn't know I had, right up here.

But anyway, how we lived I really couldn't tell you.   Just the hand of God was upon us.   That (explosion) took the whole tail off.   (It was) just like the Lord opened the door for us to bail out.  The tail gunner just turned around.  He stepped off the end of that plane, pulled his cord I'm sure, because I saw the chute go floating off into space.   The best I could, I climbed, pulling myself up to that rear door that the Lord had provided.  I got to the end there, and I got hold of the ripcord, and I jumped and I pulled it immediately. There was a pop.   I felt that pop as the chute popped out.   POW!   I hit the ground.

Now about three months later, I was talking to a man that had just been shot down. He was telling me that he had been on the raid that I had been shot down.  He was telling me that our plane had been hit and there were two of the men in the front part of the ship whose bodies were blown out of the plane and hit another plane in the formation.  Most every man in that formation saw only one chute that had come out.  Two men, he said, reported that they thought they had seen a second chute come out.   I was so close to the ground that they did not have time to see my chute.   It was just there for a second because it had just popped, and....POW! I had already hit the ground.  It just broke my fall.
Praise the Lord.   I am truly grateful, for God had his hand on us that day.

I'm so. ....sometimes it makes me a little nervous to live this over again........Hallelujah.



(Pause)

I was loose just a short period of time.  During this period of time, I found an old hut.   I broke into this hut.   There was an old coat and a cap in there, so I took off my flying clothes.  I stood out like a sore thumb.  I had a flying jacket with a lot of things painted on it, and I had a flying suit, and a heated suit.   So I took all that off and traded this old man, or whoever it was. .. I didn't know who it was. . . I took his coat and cap and all I had on then was a pair of fatigues.   I put this coat on, and I took off (walking).

I had a plan to walk back, to try to get back behind our lines.   I had found myself about ten or twelve miles behind the American lines. I was going to try to get back.  So I was walking along and every house I would pass by, there were German soldiers resting in those houses.   I bluffed my way by a lot of soldiers and everything, but finally I was walking down this path and two of them stepped right out in front of me and it was at this
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time that this man said, "For you, brother, the war is over".   They had pulled their guns and I was now a prisoner of war.

My wife has got something else to say about now. Evelyn speaks:
I always do!   (Laughter)  I had almost forgotten my bad experience.  I kept getting letters from Ralph, but suddenly the letters stopped and I felt alone, a lonely feeling. I kept right on working and praying to God, wondering what was happening to Ralph.

After four months, I had a dream.   In this dream I got a package from Ralph and it had four golden cups in there.   I told this lady where I was staying what I had dreamed. She said, "Oh, honey, you are going to hear from your husband because gold is precious".

At the Douglass plant, I would always say, "When Ralph gets home, we're going to do this, and we're going to do that," and I noticed finally that every time I mentioned something about my husband, they started turning me off.   They would start talking about something else.   Later I found out they all thought he was dead.   One night when I was working, my mother-in-law called me and she said, "Evie, we've got a telegram and Ralph is missing in action."   I don't remember much of that night, I'll tell you for sure, except I went over and spent the night with them and we prayed together and we said we were going to trust God.

The next morning I was back in my room again, and I thought of that calendar there in front of me, and a little feeling just hit me.   So I flipped back through there to find that red circle and there was January the 27th.  I looked at this telegram and it said, "Missing in action, January the 27th."

I stood there and I said, "God, you didn't give me that burden for nothing.  I am going to believe that Ralph is safe and I am going to trust You, that You will bring him safely home."   So that's the faith that I walked in.

God has a way of showing us things sometimes before they come to pass, don't they?   Those four golden cups.....that was the first week of May.  That next week I got a telegram on the ninth, my mother and father-in-law got one on the tenth, I got one on the eleventh, and they got one on the twelfth.  Four of them.   When the third one came, I said, "If there is anything to that dream that God gave me, then I should be getting another one. Sure enough I did, and I was so thankful.

I am thankful for my husband, for God's keeping power.  He wears a medal that I would like for all of you to see.   All the P.O.Ws in the U.S. wear this.   They just got it about three years ago.  But it is a medal, young people,   that I hope you never get.   It is for being a prisoner of war.  But I tell you one thing, I am proud of my husband, I am proud of what he did, and I call the P.O.Ws  "the heroes of the heroes" because they were in the heat of the battle or they never would have gotten captured.  I know General Morgan
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has spoken for us a couple of times. 	He says that the P.O.Ws have suffered more than any other living group on earth and I believe him.



Ralph speaks:

After I was taken prisoner there on this road this day, these two Germans telling me that the war for me was over was surely a mis-statement, because it certainly wasn't over for me.

After interrogation, I was taken to a terminal, an old street car terminal, that was in...  just a little ways... about five miles south of Rome itself.   They had captured, the Germans had captured, about fifteen hundred of American Rangers.   Now these Rangers are America's crack troops.   They were supposed to be some of the very best but because of the fire power that the Germans had, they just, it was either give up or die.   Their commanding officer felt it would be better for them just to give up, so he told them to surrender.

There were about fifteen hundred of them in this street car terminal.   For about five days we stayed in this street car terminal.   This was in February.   I tell you I just had this pair of fatigues on and it was snowing everywhere and cold.   The Germans wouldn't  let us have any fires at night.   They did let us have a little bit of a fire, if we could find something to bum, in the daytime.   There we were in this street car terminal.   It is a bunch of tracks that come through a building and between the tracks is a pit.   Most of us were down in those pits trying to huddle together to stay warm.

Now the diet that the Germans fed you was very slim, a very slim diet.   The reducing type diet if you know what I mean.   We would get maybe a sixteenth of a loaf of bread, and it was one of those small one-pound type loaves, except they weighed about three pounds.    There was a lot of wood in that bread.   We would get coffee once a day. The coffee is called ersatz coffee, it's an imitation-type coffee.   That is what we would get.   We would get that about once a day, coffee and a piece of bread.



We stayed there for about five days and they loaded us into trucks and took us down to Rome.   They were going to give us a tour of Rome.   They dumped us out in front of the Coliseum.   The whole fifteen hundred of us had slept like we were, beards and everything. We were not a very pleasing sight to see.   We found ourselves between two columns of neatly dressed German soldiers.   They all had long overcoats, about six inches from the ground.   They each one had a machine pistol.   They had their black helmets.   They were a very sophisticated looking group.

There we were, walking between these two columns, and we were just kind of walking along like Americans would do.   The Italian people were lining the sidewalks and once in a while you would see some of them and (Ralph whispering) they would slip a victory sign down. 	"V for Victory", they would slip a sign.
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But then there were a lot of them that would spit at us and jeer us on.   They would make fun, "Look at you guys, supposed to be the crack troops and so forth, compared to our/these beautiful dressed soldiers here."   This is the way it was.   We had quite a tour though.   I did see St. Peter's Cathedral and the Roman Coliseum.   That wasn't a very pleasant way to take a tour though, I'll tell you.

We were marched on to the other side of Rome and then we loaded into trucks again and out to a camp that was just about thirty miles north of town.   From there, we started our special train rides that the Germans had for us, which were in box cars.   Now the box cars are not like they are here in America, these great big long box cars that you see going by and you wish they would hurry up and get by.   The box cars that they used in Germany were about as long as this bench here, I think.   They called them, they had room for eight horses, and they said forty men, but I don't  even see how forty men could lay down in that comfortably, but I don't  ever remember traveling with just forty men.   Most of the time we had between sixty-five and seventy-five men in those box cars.   Now you can imagine if you are penned that close together, you try to stretch your legs out, first thing you know, there is a whole pile of legs on top of yours.   You pull your legs out and put them on top.   Just in a little bit they work down and you got to get back on top.   It was tough.

It took us four days of travel.   We went north up through Florence, on up through the Alps.   Still all I had were just these coveralls, I'm telling you I was freezing to death. We went on through Austria, through Czechoslovakia,  up into Poland to a camp 2-B. From 2-B we moved on to another camp where they separated the privates.   Most of the men that I was incarcerated with down in Rome were privates and PFCs.   I was a staff sergeant.   They felt like a sergeant had a little more of, I don't  know, seniority or
something, and might be able to escape a little easier, so they separated us.   Consequently, they segregated us.   They separated us.

They sent us on up to a non-com camp and I was there for about three months at Stalag Luft 6.   This is on the border of Lithuania.   We hadn't  been there but about three months and all of a sudden the Russians began their push westward.   Our camp was endangered, so they took us down to Kallingrad, which is a Russian port, and we were all put in a ship there, a boat.



This was... I feel this was an old coal barge.. .I really do, because there was about one ladder for us to go down.   It was about thirty feet down that ladder.   We went down one at a time.   When we got down there, they had pushed about fifteen hundred men of us down in this hold.   Now we could see the water line because it sweat up wherever the water is.   About fifteen feet up above there was the water line. So if we happened to run into one of those mines the Americans had dropped, the English had dropped, and no telling who else might have put one out there.. .if we had happened to run into one of those mines, there we were way below water, and one ladder to go up.   I tell you, we were sweating it out.   And it was just as crowded down there as it had been for the box car.
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We got to Szczecin/Neustettin, which is just about a hundred miles north and east of Berlin.   (Ed note**	From the location given, this may be a Polish city that was occupied by Germany in World War II.   It was called by both Neustettin, the German name, and Szczecin, the Polish name.   It currently is located in Poland.)

We got there and we got out of the ship, and they loaded us back into the box car again.  This time, it was a little different.   They had partitioned the box car off with kind of a wooden fence, and they had eight guards for the front half of the box car and thirty of us men for the back half.   Now then, I don't know what they were thinking about, afraid of, but anyway they made us take our belts off and take our shoes off.   They put them all in a pile on the side where the Germans were, that side.

So the next morning, we traveled all night that night in this box car about a hundred miles west, and we got to this camp and the next morning we were rudely awakened by the screaming of a German captain that was telling these guards that were in our box car with us, to roust us out of those box cars.   And so, he said, "Push all their junk out there on the ground!"    And so that's what they did, they just shoved it all out there.   Can you imagine trying to find your shoes out of thirty pair?   All in a pile there?   Your belt and all the other gear you might have had taken along with you?

It was a lot of pressure there.  Besides that, you're handcuffed to a guy.   You're handcuffed to another guy.   They handcuffed us together, two guys together.   I don't know what they were afraid of.   But anyway, there we were and they got all these little guards that were in the box car with us.   They were real young.   They looked like some of these Hitler Youth that we had heard a lot about, about sixteen or seventeen year old kids.

This German captain was telling them, "Now most of these guys are flyers. Most of these guys here are flyers.   They are the ones who had bombed your homes and possibly killed some of your family."   Boy, he really ran us down.   So he told the guards, "Go ahead.   I want you to fix your bayonets."   So each one of those guards put their bayonets on their rifles and then he said, "Double time, let's go!"

So he started us up the road at double time.  Now I had been a prisoner by then over six months and I had missed a lot of meals.   I certainly wasn't ready for a road run that morning.   I tell you some of those kids, German kids that were running with us, some of those guys fell out, so you know it was no fun.  But if you fell down, if you fell down, there was a German right there with a bayonet to prod you, to encourage you to get up and keep going.   Also this captain had in forethought brought down a bunch of guards from the camp itself.   These guards from the camp had brought their dogs.   You've seen these great big old police dogs and Doberman Pinschers.

I tell you, they certainly did not like Americans.  Oh, did they hate Americans.  If you fell down, that dog would be right there, boy, encouraging you to get up.   Besides that, then the guard would prick your partner there that was handcuffed to you.   If you fell



15


down, you were liable to take that guy with you down and both of you there on the ground, no telling how many times those guys would have time to punch you with that bayonet.

I tell you, I got to camp and I was totally exhausted.   I was sick to my stomach because of exhaustion.   A lot of men were sick that day.   We heard there was one man that came into camp that had fifty-two bayonet wounds.   They said it was the bloodiest group that had ever come into camp.   It was a hard road.   Not only did I have a hard time there because of being harassed coming up the road that way, but whenever I got in to the camp, they brought you in one at a time, one person at a time.   Of course they had about a dozen guards.   They would bring you in and you would stand in front of one of the guards and he would strip you off and search everything that you had.   And I mean look you over even after you were undressed.   They looked you over to see if you had anything.   You lost your freedom, you see.   You've  lost your freedom.

(Voice quavering)   A lot of times we take things for granted don't  we?   When we walk in the door, we reach over and flip the switch, the lights come on.   We take it for granted.   A lot of things we take for granted.    Sometimes we take freedom for granted. It's not free. It certainly wasn't free.

Wasn't long until the Russians moved again, about six months I guess it was.   The Russians moved further west, and our camp again was in danger. 	So they took about fifteen hundred of us that were not able to walk and they loaded us into another box car, trainload of box cars.

There was, I think there was about sixty-five or seventy men in this box car this day.   As we counted off, there was hardly room to stand, let alone sit down.   But I tell you what, there wasn't  but one single argument loud enough to bring much harassment during this trip that took us eight days to move from this camp to the next camp, which was about a hundred and fifty miles away.   But it took us eight days.   They parked us at night in marshalling yards with a red cross painted on top of the car.   They parked us on bridges that they did not want to be blown up during the daytime.   We moved not very often and not very far.   About eight days later. .. and I'll tell you, I was able to get out of that box car one time during that eight days.   They stopped and got coffee twice and they got one bowl of soup during that eight days.   Now, that's a weight-losing diet, I'll tell you that for sure.

So, but anyway, after we got to this officers' camp which was Stalag Luft One, it was on a peninsula extending out into the Baltic Sea, this peninsula extended out to the Baltic Sea.   We were there from January until sometime around May.   The Russians just kept getting closer.   We could hear their guns going off and getting even closer and closer.

One day we found the German soldiers had left.   They had evacuated.   They had turned the camp over to one of the commanding officers, the ranking officers in our camp, which happened to be a colonel.   His name was Colonel (Zimke?).   He was highly respected by the Germans because he had shot down twenty-nine planes.   So they respected him.   So they turned the camp over to him.   So he went to the barracks and got two hundred American officers and gave them clubs and put them on the fences.
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About 11:00 that morning, we could hear the rumble of a tank coming up the road. So everybody came rushing over to the fence and was standing there behind that fence. This tank came chug-chug-chug-chugging and got up to the front of where our road was that came up to the main gate.   He stopped and this Russian got out carrying one of our Thompson sub-machine guns up to the gate and he walked up there.

Now we had a lot of interpreters, Russian interpreters there, that could understand Russian.   So he came up there and he said, "I don't  understand!   Where are the Germans?"   So our camp commander said, "Well, the Germans all left and they turned the camp over to me.   I just went over here to the airfield on the other side of town and I've asked for an airlift out of here for these men.   That's  the reason they're  still living in the camp here.   I'm trying to get them back so that they don't roam all over Europe and get in to some war area there."

He (the Russian) said, well, he just didn't  think the men ought to stay there behind that fence with no Germans there.   He just couldn't  understand and so anyway he said, "I tell you what, if you don't  let them out,   I'm going back down there and getting my tank and we're going to come in and we're going to pull those fences down."   So he started off towards his tank and, sure enough, pretty soon he (chug-chug-chug-chug)  turned towards the gate.

The commanding officer, he knew that if that tank came through that fence.....   If you ever see a stockade that the Germans put up, you 'll know that it is a pretty safe place. They put the fence about, three and a half inches apart, the barbed wire, and it's about twelve feet tall, and they have got all the things on top, you know the sharp things on top. There are two fences, one on the outside of the other, and in-between there's all this coiled barbed wire.   Boy, I tell you, it was a tough time to get through that.   But just think, if that tank had come through that, it would pull all that barbed wire down and might be tear up a lot of men, you know, and wound a lot of guys.   So the commander, in thinking, he said, "Open the gates and let 'em out!".   So we got our freedom back.   We got our freedom back.

We went to town and I came back with a rooster...no a hen.   Pardon me, a hen.   I found a hen roaming around there somewhere, so I liberated a hen!   (Laughter)   Now our stove that we had was made out of ceramic tile around some brick and it had a piece of tin on top.   You put a little burnable stuff down there in the grate, and first thing you know, you 'd have that tin so hot that you couldn 't hardly cook anything on there but that it didn 't bum.   But we fried chicken up there!   I fried hen.   I tell you, that thing was tough, but boy, I tell you that was good.   That was really good.

Sure enough the Americans did come in with "17s" and fly us out to Camp Lucky
Strike and I'm truly grateful for it.

Lucky Strike.   I can't  remember anything but being able to take a hot shower and they had an eggnog line.   There wasn't anything alcoholic about it, it was just plain
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eggnog, but it was good for us, you know.   So I'd stand in line for that eggnog and, so help me, those lines would be three blocks long.   But boy, that was a real treat to have eggnog. You'd take your canteen cup that they had given us and get a cup of eggnog.

I stayed at Camp Lucky Strike for about a week, I guess, and I finally got some clothes.   Then they put us on a ship and I started back to America.

(Long emotional pause)   One day I saw I was coming close to the land and there was a statue, the Statue of Liberty.   Here I am back in America.   Oh happy day!   What a thrill that was to see that statue!   What a thrill to have liberty again!   To have freedom again!

As we got in to the harbor, we pulled in to a dock and how appropriate it was for the band to be playing a song, "Don't Fence Me In".   (Laughter)   I'm sure they got applause for that, for we certainly were appreciative of that particular song, "Don't Fence Me In".

They sent me over to a camp in New Jersey, and this is the first place that I remember getting a meal, in Camp Kilmer, New Jersey.   There was a cafeteria line.   We as prisoners of war were sliding those trays along and the guys behind the serving line realized that we were prisoners of war.   They thought that they were going to do us a favor and they were going to give us big helpings of things, you know.   My buddy that was right behind me, he liked mashed potatoes, oh, he did love mashed potatoes!   And so he comes along and this guy has this great big spoon, you know . . .put the chicken fried steak on our plate.   Just then the line stopped and my buddy got hit twice with those potatoes.   He had two big spoonfuls.    I said, "What are you going to do with all that?"   "Well," he said, "I'm going to eat it."

Let me tell you something.   When I came home on furlough, and my wife and I, we got married, I sat down to fried chicken that night and I ate a whole fried chicken by myself.   When I came home this time, my mother fixed another chicken.   You know, I could only eat one piece of that chicken.   I was full.   My stomach had shrunk so bad that I wasn't able to eat but just a little bit.   Needless to say, my buddy threw away a lot of potatoes that day, and possibly quite a bit of the chicken fried steak that he had on his plate. But, oh, how happy we were to be back here in America!   How happy we were!

Let me tell you something that Thomas Jefferson said after he wrote the...and did his part on our independence, constitution.   He made this statement, "Posterity will never know the price of this freedom that we enjoy."   And I say that to you all.   You'll never know the price of the freedom we enjoy, the lives that we've  lost for the freedom that we now have.   Oh, a great price was paid for that freedom.

You know, the missions that I flew were similar to life's experiences.    Some days when I would fly a mission, there would be hardly any flak.   Some days the flak was terrible, and the fighters would come and it would be a rough mission.   Some days, we get up and we start out through and the devil shoots at us.   I tell you, that is a hard day, isn't it? But you know, God is faithful.   God is faithful.
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Remember the scripture that I read to you, "For God looked down from his height of his sanctuary and the Lord did behold the earth and He heard the groanings of the prisoners, of those appointed to death."   Oh, we find ourselves today in similar circumstances as this, for we have battles that we must fight.   But as we look to God for help, it's like the children of lsrael looking for somebody to help them out of their plight from Egypt.   They'd say, "Oh, God, help us!   Here we are in this land and we've lost the freedom that we've known and now then we're slaves here with the Egyptians".   They'd say, "Oh, we need a leader", and so God sent Moses for their leader.

You and I have a leader.   "For God so loved the world that He sent his only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish but have life". Everlasting life!   Halleluiah!   For we find that in II Chronicles 7:14 it says, "If my people which are called by My name shall humble themselves and pray and seek my face... (Hear those "ifs"?   If?   If?),... if they 'll do these things, (then what will happen?), then He will hear from Heaven....then I will hear from heaven and forgive them of their sins and will heal their land."

Isn't that precious that we have a God that sent his only Son to provide the freedom that you and I now enjoy from sin and the joy that. .....as I was coming home from the war and the battles and so forth, and they played that song, "Don't Fence Me In".

Just think!   Oh Lord, we're coming home to be in heaven with you some of these days.   (Evelyn adds, "Amen!").   No more trials, no more tests, no more heartaches, no more sorrows, no more sickness, but praise God, it's Jesus provided that freedom for you and I!   Can you praise the Lord with me now?  Halleluiah!   Thank you, precious Lord! Halleluiah!   (Applause).

Evelyn:

Ralph, I want to ask a question here.   Was it worth it for America, honey?	For this country?

Ralph:

Oh, I'd do it again if l had to. 
         Evelyn:
It's the most beautiful country in the world! Ralph:
Amen.
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Evelyn:

We want to thank all of you for coming here on this evening to hear our testimony. Our son-in-law, Tim Bingham, and our daughter are here tonight from Illinois.   We're so thankful they could be here.   Some of you know our daughter, Debbie, and we want to thank Gary, and this beautiful choir.   The wonderful music that Pat and Nancy had just couldn't be better.   I tell you, when you 're in a church like this and you've got the best singing, and the best music, and the best preacher, Brother McNabb, it's wonderful to be here!   God bless you!   (Extended applause).

Solo by Pastor McNabb:

Oh beautiful, For spacious skies, For amber waves of grain,
For purple mountain majesties, Above the fruited plain!

America, America,
God shed his grace on thee, And crown thy good
With brotherhood,
From sea to shining sea! Pastor McNabb:
Let's take time tonight to thank the Lord for our freedom, would you?   Father we thank you. .......





(the above testimony was transcribed from audio-tape)
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JAMES RALPH HOLTZCLAW
(His story, as given to Joseph Holtzclaw, grandson)




I was in the 12th


AAF with the 321st Bomb Group, to which I

was assigned in the early part of September, 1943.   I was in the 446th
Squadron and a gunner on a B-25.  We were in Tunisia, North Africa, and had moved to our new base in Grottaglia, Italy.   On January 27,
1944, my 23rd mission, we were bombing a road junction on the Anzio
beachhead.
We were the lead plane of our formation and were approaching
the bomb run when our plane was hit by flak-a direct hit of the pilot's
compartment.  The plane nosed down, engulfed in flames, the engines pulling us earthward.   I was the upper turret gunner and after releasing my seat, I started looking for my parachute to attach to my harness.   I had laid it beside the turret on the floor.   The concussion had bounced the chute out of its place.   I prayed for God to help me.  I started searching for it and found it under the waist gunner's ammunition that had been dislodged and fallen to the floor of the plane.   I snapped it to my harness and started moving toward the escape hatch.   The tail gunner had moved from his position to the escape hatch and had his hand on the emergency release.
Suddenly, we received a second hit that blew off the tail compartment.  He turned and parachuted.  I parachuted next and remember the parachute popped.  I was lying on my back on the ground when I regained consciousness.  I don't know how long I had been there.   There were no planes to be seen.   I learned later that some of the men in the group reported only one chute came out, but some had seen the second one open near the ground.
I experienced great fear.  I was behind the enemy lines and far enough to be in an area that every house was occupied by German soldiers waiting to be called to the front.  I was free long enough to find a shack that contained a dark coat and cap that I could wear.   I was captured by two German soldiers while I was trying to get back to
our own lines.
I was interrogated by several German officers and almost shot
as a spy, because of some marking found in the coat I was wearing.
I pointed out that the U.S.A. would not send a spy that couldn't speak
either Italian or German.
I was held by German M.P.s for about a week.   They later put me with a large group of rangers that had been captured at the Anzio
beachhead.
We were kept in a building used to maintain railroad cars, with pits running parallel with the tracks.  The building was open on both ends so it was extremely cold inside.  We were allowed to build fires
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only in the daylight hours.   We were kept her five days and nights. We were given a small piece of bread and a bowl of soup each day. We were unshaven, dirty, hungry and cold.
One morning we were loaded on trucks and taken to Rome, about 20 minutes from where we were held captive.   We were unloaded in front of the Coliseum and ordered to line up in ranks of four.   We were paraded through Rome, flanked by a sharp, clean shaven, well dressed group of soldiers, known as the Green Panzer division, all armed with machine pistols.   What a comparison!   Some of the people spit on us while others showed us the victory sign.
On the other side of Rome, we were loaded back in trucks and taken to a transit camp just north of Rome.   The conditions in this camp were deplorable and it was almost impossible to survive.   Everyone was cold most of the time and the only heat were fires built on the floors of the barracks. Everything was burned that could be found, time drug slowly by and cold and hunger were all that was thought about.
A few days later, we were loaded in box cars and went to Germany. After two days, we stopped in Munich and were given a bowl of soup by a Red Cross group at the train station.   The boxcars were overcrowded and we had a small keg in which to excrement.   We had no food or water and if we slept, it was either with our knees drawn up or if you put your feet and legs out in front of you, several others in the car had theirs on top of yours.   It was cold and the floor was wet from the overflow of the keg, which the guards never emptied.
We traveled another day's journey to a camp that would not accept us because of a contagious disease in their camp.   They took us from there to Stalag 17B.   Our quarters were in a long, bam type building with nothing in it, but excelsior on the floor on both sides of the building.   This was
our beds, that we shared with a large army of lice.
It was at this camp that the hunger and tension came to a head.   The bread was brought in the barracks in a German blanket, carried by a couple of men.   It was spread out and the bread cut into 1!4  loaves and given to
two men to be divided between them.   After the bread was distributed and off the blanket, a big fight between about six men who wanted the crumbs.   This was the worst fight among the Americans that I saw while I was a prisoner. There were many scuffles in the boxcars because some one's  legs were hurting with so many pairs of legs on top of them.   We were cold and hungry all the time.
My next move was a two day boxcar ride again to the first permanent camp that I was assigned, Stalag 2B.   This camp was northeast of Berlin and had been established a long time.   It was here that I got some clothes and
the first Red Cross food parcel.   All the clothes that I had until now, were
a pair of fatigues, a zipper sweater, and underwear, socks and shoes.   Need­
less to say, I had been freezing.
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Twice a day was roll call.   Roll call meant standing in ranks four deep to be counted.   If someone was sick and not able to make it, it meant hunt­ ing and counting until all were accounted for which sometimes took an hour to three hours standing in the snow or rain or whatever the weather.   No matter how much clothes you had on, it still got cold just standing.   Many
of the fellows got frost bite because of roll calls.
When I got to 2B, they gave me an overcoat and a blanket.   This was the first time since being captured that I got to sleep with a little warmth.
It was here that I got to see a doctor for the first time.   I had just had
to live with the ruptured ear drum and pains in different parts of my body. The wind and cold caused me considerable pain and discomfort.    I had head­ aches most of the time.
It was in the hospital for treatment that I first met Richard Welch, who became my partner.   We shared everything we received...food, parcels from home, and our time.   Richard and I were together until we were liberated in May, 1945.
There were about 50 Air Corps personnel there and orders were pending to send us to Stalag Luft #6. 	Finally, we were again loaded in boxcars and two days later we arrived.   This camp was located close to the Lithuania border in East Prussia.   We were here until July, 1944.
The barracks were not bad.   The beds were only double deckers and we each had a fair mattress of excelsior wood and the cover was like a burlap bag except it was made of paper.
The German commander demanded respect, but he was fair.   He tried to keep us supplied with Red Cross parcels which became almost impossible in the last months we were there.   As the Russians got closer, it was harder for the Germans to see our needs.   Why bring Red Cross parcels to POWs when they needed the trains to supply their troops?
By now, our stomachs had shrunk until we were able to manage on less.   We would have a cup of coffee for breakfast, very thin soup at noon

and the small portion of bread, black, about 1116th


 of a loaf when you felt

the need.
A man was shot at this camp because he was walking to the wash house   too early.   He was in the middle of the parade ground some 100 feet inside the fence, towel on his shoulder, carrying a bar of soap.   This man died because the Germans had failed to bar the door as was the custom.
Generally, about dark, the guards would come by each door and bolt them, but just this once, they had failed to do so.   The next morning because of the northern light, which made daylight about 3:30 AM, when this man tried the door and it was open.   He just started for the wash house.   His barracks was at the south end of the compound.   He walked between two barracks some
200 feet before he came out onto the parade ground area which was about the
size of a football field.   He had walked about 25 feet out into the clearing when he as shot.   It was twenty minutes or longer before the guards from the gate arrived with a stretcher.   He was dead when he got to the clinic.
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About July, 1944, the Russians were closing in and we were moved again to another camp.   It all started with a boxcar, packed to standing room only.   We went to a port on the North Sea.   We were loaded into the hole of a ship.   About 700 or more men were crowded into the hole with one ladder as the only means of access to the top deck.   We were below the waterline as you could see the sweat line some 10 to 12 feet above us.   We were cramped so that no one could stretch out his legs.   If you did get them stretched out, you soon found 4 or 5 pairs on top of yours.   A five gallon can was passed around to relieve you bladder, but with so many men, it was too often full by the time it got to us.   Only one person at a time could climb the ladder to excrement, and this was done in a paint can.   I didn 't get to make a trip
up the ladder, but someone that did said we had two mine sweepers in front of the ship.   It seemed that not only the Germans had mined the North Sea, but so had the English.
Some 56 hours later, we disembarked and were transferred to a
boxcar.   We were handcuffed in pairs.   Our belts, shoes, suspenders and our packs, which included extra clothes and food, were taken from us.   The boxcar was divided into two compartments by a woven wire divider.    Seven German guards were on one side with the things that they had taken from us and we were on the other side, about 24 or 28 of us.
The train pulled out late that evening and arrived early the next morning at a town near Stalag Luft #4. 	The train was quickly brought to life by the loud shouts of a German officer telling the seven guards in each car to get us POWs out!   Our shoes, belts, suspenders and packs were pushed out in a big pile.   Imagine if you can, 22 to 28 men, handcuffed in pairs trying to find their own shoes, belt and pack!   And, then try to get them on!
The German officer was telling these guards that we were the cause of
the destruction in Germany, the death of their wives, and parents.   He called us pigs!   He ordered them to fix bayonets and escort us in a hurry to the camp.   They had brought guard dogs along too.   How those dogs disliked us POWs!
We were not in any condition to make a road run.   This German officer kept riding a car up and down the column encouraging the guards to prod us along.   The packs and things we were trying to keep were soon discarded by most of the men.   Now it was not only just the run, but also, having to watch out for rolling cans and other articles abandoned by these weary men.   To lag behind meant a quick reminder from the bayonet of a guard.   My partner, Richard Welch, was reminding and encouraging  me to move on.   As we ran, we could see civilians lurking by the road jeering and running out to pick up the things we had to drop.
Three times I was bayoneted as we trotted along as well as we could. Richard and I made it to the gate of the camp with our packs, and were completely exhausted.   I remember falling to the ground and vomiting. Afterwards I said, "Thank God, we are alive."
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Sometime the next day, we were taken into camp into a building that was long and empty except for some tables along one wall running the length of the building.   We were told to remove all of our clothing.   There was a guard behind and one in front of each table.   We were told to go in and get in front of one table.   We were entirely in the nude.   I had to bend over for an inspection of my buttocks.   If you were given an order to do something
and you were too slow, as I was, the guard behind you would hit you with the
butt of his rifle across your back.
The guard behind the table was going through my things and handing me what I could have.   I got a stocking cap, one pack of cigarettes, comb, toothbrush, shorts, sweater, fatigues and my shoes and one thin German blanket.   My overcoat, GI blanket, O.D.s, extra cigarettes, and food had been taken away from me.   The treatment these two guards gave us was tough but for me to make the trip up the road and then lose my pack was too much!
I was deeply depressed.   We were never able to replace our blankets,
overcoat, or extra clothes or food!   Later, I learned that one man had received
52 bayonet wounds and his partner had to almost carry him or they may have killed them both.
This was a terrible camp.   The barracks held about 200 men, and there were about 20 to 25 men to a room.   At the end of the barracks, there was a toilet (like an outdoor toilet) with no doors-thus no privacy.    We would use this facility at night and would have to go to one of the two latrines and wash house.   This was an open building with no heat so in the cold weather, it was nothing for there to be 1 to 2 inches of ice on the floor.
The guards would take us on an average of once every other week to get a bath and be deloused.   When it was real cold, we didn't  get a bath as often.
One time the guards in the towers around the compound practiced
with their guns in the compound.    Since our barracks was near a fence, we received several shots through the outside wall with the slugs stopping inside our wall.   It was lucky for us that the towers took turns and that all didn't  practice at once.
Only one time in about 6 months was there enough to eat.   Somehow
we got a Christmas parcel of food to be divided between 2 men.   This was something unusual for we didn't get Red Cross parcels at this camp.
I remember once when a load of suitcases filled with clothes, toilet
articles and things that could have made life more bearable, came from the YMCA.   Our camp leader went to the German commander and demanded the suitcases that were sent to POWs by the "Y".    The Germans emptied the suitcases and sent them to us!
This camp was close to the lines again-so another move.   About
1500 men were loaded in boxcars and there were sixty men in the car that Richard and I were riding.   This trip took us eight days and we were allowed to get off one time to excrement.   This facility was long logs, held up
by X logs.   No toilet paper and the log had snow on it.   This was just out in a field.   It was cool!
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Nights were spent on a bridge or sitting in a marshaling yard.   Our train did have Red Cross trimming on top of each car.   My partner was more reserved when it came to doing toiletry, so he was in bad shape by the time we got to Stalag Luft 1.   He had not been able to go the entire eight days.   WE HAD NO FOOD OR WATER THE ENTIRE TRIP!
I thought Stalag Luft #4 was bad, but we at least had beds.   With these 1500 men arriving, there was no place to sleep but on the floor
with wet straw for a mattress.   The food supply here was bad and then it
got worse with the extra men.   There were no Red Cross parcels.   We were skin and bones, and would get dizzy when we stood up for lack of food.
The nights were a strain.   Most of us were in the Air Corps and knew
that if a bomber gets hit, the rule of dropping the bombs was first on the agenda.   So many of the English flights were solo flights at night. The camp was located on the North Sea and it seemed the flight path of
so many missions.   Another worry was that only 250 yards from our camp was a flak school and we felt that this might be an alternate target.
One day the orders came that we could dig fox holes for ourselves. Now digging was certainly not allowed, so we knew something was about to happen.   Three days later, the Germans left and turned the camp over
to Col. Zimkey, the ranking officer in the camp.   He put American guards on the fences.   Later that same day, a Russian tank came and threatened to
tear down the fences if the colonel didn't open the gates.   So he gave orders to open them.
About May 12, American B-17s came to an airfield near Barth and took us to France.   0 HAPPY DAY, I WAS ON MY WAY HOME AT LAST!

The above statements are true to the best of my knowledge and memory.

JAMES RALPH HOLTZCLAW
7801 N.W. 81h

Oklahoma City, Okla.   73127
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PRISONER OF WAR DAYS




I began getting letters from the East Coast saying they had picked up short wave messages from Germany saying Ralph was a prisoner of war.   Also, I had moved to a private home as I needed a bus route to get to the Douglas Plant.
One night, I had a dream that I got four golden cups from Ralph.   One of them had a broken handle.    I didn't know what that meant.   I told my landlady and she said, "Oh, Honey, gold means something precious, you are going to hear from your husband."   On
the following day I received a telegram from Ralph.   They had a card addressed to me and telegraphed to me.   The girl from Western Union read it to me, but I was so excited, I couldn't put the sentences together.  It said, "Dear Evie", my nickname, so I knew it was from Ralph.   I asked her to read it again, which she did three times.	She was laughing for joy with me!
The next day, my mother and father-in-law got a similar message from Ralph.   The day after that, I got another telegram, almost the same, saying he was fine and a prisoner of war.   I remarked to my landlady if this was in reference to my dream, we should get one
more telegram, which we did!   Alice was excited as she called me at work saying this message from Ralph said he was coming home.   Actually, they had read it over the phone to her, and after she got a copy of the telegram, it was just an ending of his message that he would be home soon (which was sixteen months later).   The official telegram came May
5, 1944 that he was a German P.O.W.
The YMCA had a Prisoner of War Club.   Ralph's mother and dad and I joined. We gave them the information about Ralph and I told them the experiences I had on January 2ih and that I believed all of us should have faith in God to keep our loved ones and share our news with them.  Alice was such a wonderful worker with that group, but a short time later they elected me president, and I am sure it was because they wanted Alice and me to work together.
We met once a month and it was a great help to share our news.   From time to time, there was sad news.   The German and Japanese P.O.W. relatives all met together. Sometimes we would see newspaper articles and pictures which related to some of us in the group.   We kept on working, praying and meeting together.
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HOME AT LAST!




It was nearing the end of the war in the European theatre during May 1945.   A few of our group started getting telegrams that their P.O.W. was free and in France.   Since I was still president of the group, I thought if I could be strong, I could encourage the ones who hadn't  heard anything, including myself and Alice and Dad.   I prayed and asked the Lord to be among the last to receive that telegram of "freedom of our loved ones."   I'll be so strong, I thought!
May 5, 1945.   Liberation.    End of the war.
I hadn't heard from Ralph for nearly five months.   I kept working and talking with our P.O.W. members at night and encouraging them the best I could.
One morning, one of the P.O.W. wives who worked at the Douglas Plant came by
to tell me her husband had been "exchanged" and was in the states at a hospital. "Exchanged" meant he wouldn't  be physically able to be in the war any longer and so the U.S. had exchanged a German P.O.W. for him. 	She came by my desk again and on the third time she asked me why I was looking so down, that even though I hadn't heard from Ralph, it was a lot harder for her as her husband was in the states and she couldn't see him yet.
I was in great stress and I started crying.   I just couldn't  stop and they had to take
me home.   My boss called and said not to come back until I heard from Ralph.   The next morning my mother called me to the telephone- Western Union! 	Ralph had been liberated and was in France!   If only I could have been "strong" for one more day!!
They came home by ship (I've forgotten the name of the ship).   Ralph and a buddy were up on deck when they saw something shining in the water.   It looked like a mine. They immediately notified the ship officers and the direction of the ship changed.   At a safe distance, a rifleman shot the object and it was a live mine.   God gave us another miracle!
Ralph arrived home on Father's Day, 1945.   He called us to meet him in
downtown Oklahoma City.   Dad and I went to pick him up while Alice was frying chicken for him.   Oh, the joy I felt when I saw Ralph standing on that street comer!    I jumped out of the car and was in his arms at last!
He didn't eat much and we all four sat down on the divan because he wanted to talk
to us.   He told of his experience of being shot down on January 27, 1943 and he had a similar experience to the one I had.   The plane got a direct hit in the pilot's compartment. The plane was going down in flames with both engines taking them down at a terrific speed.   He ejected from the upper turret.   He had his parachute harness on, but the parachute was nowhere to be seen.   He prayed, "Oh, God, help me!" and the power of God entered his right arm and hand and directed it to the waist gunner's ammunition which had fallen to the floor from the concussion.   With that one strong arm, he lifted that ammo (which we learned later could have weighed 150 pounds or more) and there was his chute.
He attached it to his harness and was climbing to the escape hatch.   The tail gunner had his hand on the emergency release when they received a second hit that blew off the
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tail compartment.   The tail gunner turned and parachuted and Ralph parachuted next.   He remembered the parachute popped and when he regained consciousness, he was lying on his back on the ground.   He didn't know how long he had been there.   Praise God for his watchful care over Ralph!
Ralph became so nervous that the divan on which we were all sitting started
shaking.   We told him we would hear the rest of his experience later, but he had that experience the way he wanted to tell us, so he told us (we were sure) what he wanted us to know so he wouldn't have to talk about it or answer questions.
We went to my mother and dad's for breakfast.   I had rented a house so Alice and
Dad took us there and Ralph carried me over the threshold!   "And they lived happily ever
after."
Ralph and I were sent to Florida for two weeks vacation by the AAF.   It was wonderful!   All our meals and activities were centered in the hotel area, where we stayed by the beaches.   I think it was for "returned military men from overseas" and their wives...a beautiful area.
We returned to Oklahoma and Ralph received his discharge from the AAF.
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OUR FAMILY



We stayed in Oklahoma City a short time after the war and then we moved to
California.   During that time, we had two sons, Ronny and Don.   What a blessing!
Ronny was born August 18, 1946.   I was late (by two weeks), so we went to a car race and hoped that the excitement would send me to the hospital, which it did!   It was about 3:00 a.m. and he was born that afternoon at 3:18p.m.    I didn't awake until late in the evening.   Ralph was shaking me.
I was in a room with several new mothers.   Ralph finally got me awake and I asked him what we had.   He said, "Oh, honey, we got the cutest little boy you ever saw and he looks exactly like me."   The girls in the room were laughing.   He went to get a nurse to bring in the baby.   Our son looked like he was taking in all the big world.   He had big brown eyes, olive skin, black hair and he was darling, and he did look like his daddy.
The nurse brought him closer and when I reached up and took his little hand, a thrill went through me that I will never forget......my baby ... and I'm a MOTHER!!
We enjoyed him so much and my mother and father-in-law and one great-grandma lived close by us and we were all together almost every day just loving our "little Ronny".
I was pregnant again and it was getting close to the date.   I called my Mother and she said I was going to have another son.   The Lord had given her a dream the night it was time to go to the hospital.   Ralph was crawling all over the bedroom floor trying to find the things Ronny had gotten out of my bag.   Then a train blocked our way, but we got there! The nurse was dropping things in her rush and I was laughing and told her to slow down, that I was in this same hospital twelve months and three weeks ago and I was doing fine. She told me the baby was due any minute.   The doctor came rushing in and the anesthesiologist also and gave me a shot.
Imagine my surprise when our little son was born a few minutes later!   He was darling...big blue eyes and black hair, which turned blond and curly a few weeks later. Don was born September 9, 1947.   We were sure blessed with two darling sons.
Ralph and his dad started a business....Ralph's Automotive.   They did well and we enjoyed being together.   We all went to the beach often.   Alice and I shopped in L.A. We all went to church and Ralph gave his testimony of being a prisoner of war.   We went to church every Sunday.
We decided to move back to Oklahoma City.   Ralph was going to Bible School. He had a job in sheet metal with my sister and brother-in-law.    My dad wasn't saved and we wanted to help him find the Lord.   We stayed with them while our home was being built.
We moved into our new home and during this time we were blessed with two beautiful daughters, Marilyn, born May 5, 1951, and Lana, born July 28, 1953. 	What a wonderful family!   Of course, our daughters looked more like Ralph....black hair and his features.
We witnessed to Dad.   I remember one time he and I were in the back yard where
he was feeding the kittens.   As we were talking, I invited him to go to church with us that night.   He informed me that he didn't need to go to church to be saved.   I agreed, but I added some "preaching".    He threw the milk container away and walked away a little upset.


30


There is a scripture that says "Preach the word.   Be instant in season, out of season".    My timing must have been out of season that time.
We had come home from church one Sunday night and Ralph and the children were having their snack time.   I had gotten ready for bed and had laid down to read my Evangel. Suddenly the joy of the Lord filled my soul and I was shouting and praising the Lord! Ralph and the children came running to find out what was happening.    I said, "Oh, my dad has been saved!"    Ralph asked me how I knew.   The phone started ringing and I told him to answer the phone and he would find out!   It was my dad, and he was crying for joy! Ralph asked him if he could hear his daughter shouting and praising the Lord for saving him.   What a miracle!
My dad and mother retired to the beautiful Ozarks in Arkansas.   They were living
on the top of a mountain called Fern, Arkansas where they owned property.    Even though they were past sixty-five years in age, they built a church called The Church of the Open Door.   We visited each other for many years.
Ralph's  parents moved back to Oklahoma City.   We had visited back and forth for many years while they lived in California.
In 1958, we moved out to western Oklahoma City.    We had a lovely old house in a wooded area.   It was close to the Bible College where Ralph attended and later we sent the boys there for part of their schooling.
We enjoyed the woods...big oak trees, lots of redbud trees and one huge pine...the tallest in the woods.   The children had a tree house, a croquet court, basketball and badminton. 	We had many children visit us from the boys'  and girls' Sunday School classes.
One evening after dinner, Ralph and I had decided it was time to make an announcement to our kids.   Ralph told them we were going to have a baby.   Everything was quiet, then a little girl's  voice asked, "In our family?"    We both said, "Yes." 	They all four jumped up shouting, laughing and so excited and happy.
We had a beautiful daughter, Debbie Joy, on January 16, 1960.   As soon as Ralph told me we had a daughter, I asked him who she looked like.   He said, "Honey, just like the other four. . .just like me."   And she did look like Ralph . ..black hair, brown eyes and his features!
They all wanted to take care of her, so she had the attention of her four older brothers and sisters.   No baby could have been taken better care of than our precious baby, Debby Joy!   Praise the Lord.
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RALPH'S  JOB




Ralph worked in Sheet Metal and went to Bible School at the same time.   During a strike, he could work if any company was willing to pay the raise they were trying to come to as an agreement.   He found a company that would, but told them he only wanted to work for them until the strike was over.
We had agreed if Ralph worked for an Assembly of God church, that we would pay
back the part of his paycheck from his sheet metal company to cover the hours to the church.   The first job he was sent to was an Assembly of God church!   We knew we were behind on a few bills and we wondered how we would make it.   We prayed and he kept our pledge to God.
The strike had ended and Ralph was planning to tell Jim, his boss, how he
appreciated letting him work during this time.
That night, I had a dream...then over and over I dreamed the same dream.   While Ralph was eating breakfast and reading the paper, I decided I would test what my dream might mean, so I said, "Ralph, what if Jim tells you that you are one of the best sheet metal men he has ever had, and that your knowledge of the trade is excellent?"    Ralph answered, "That would certainly be the day."   And he went on reading his paper.   Then I said, "Honey, what if Jim says you are good for him and his shop employees and he would like for you to stay with him?"   He answered that I sure had an imagination.   A little later, I said, "Ralph, what if he says he will pay you a quarter an hour above the scale if you stay with his company?"    He said, "Honey, you sure have a high opinion of me."   He kissed me goodbye.   I started my daily chores.
That evening, I met Ralph at the door, kissed him, and as I usually did, I was putting the baby in his arms while I finished putting dinner on the table.   This time he didn't take the baby, but stood looking at me.   Then he asked me, "How did you know all those things were going to happen?"   After taking care of the four children all day and doing my daily work, I didn't  remember what he was talking about.
He told me his boss asked him to go out with him on a job.   On the way he told him what a great sheet metal man he was.   Then after lunch, he told Ralph he was good for his shop, the employees and for him and he would like for him to stay.   They went out and finished their job and as they were driving to the shop, he said, "Ralph, I will give you a quarter an hour above the scale if you will stay."
I asked him, "What did you answer him?"   He said he didn't tell him anything
because I hadn't told him what he should do.   Then I told him it was a dream I had dreamed over and over the night before.   We both were so excited... we believed it was God's  way of showing us what to do.   What a wonderful miracle from God!   Ralph drew this quarter an hour above the scale for years!
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OUR MISSIONARY FRIENDS




Dale and Betty Brown were our neighbors in Oklahoma City in the early '50's.
We visited often, our children (we each had four) played together, and Betty and I had "tea times".   One night, Ralph went to see Dale and led him to the Lord.   We all went to the same church and both Betty and Dale were filled with the Holy Spirit.   They felt the call of God to Africa and their plans centered around that calling.
Betty and Dale applied for the mission field, but they did not meet all the
requirements.    That didn't  stop their dream of going.   They owned a plumbing company so they decided to raise the money themselves.
One evening, Dale called and wanted me to go with them to their friend Ruthie's home.   She had a neighbor, Alice, who wanted to know about the Holy Spirit baptism. Ruthie had recently been blessed by the Lord and Betty and Dale felt we should go and encourage her.   My husband said he would keep the children for me, so I went.
Dale talked to us...Ruthie, her mother, the neighbor Alice, Betty and me.   Dale was one of those Holy Ghost-filled people who was loud in church and in action.   We had seen him jump benches a few times.   I was hoping he wouldn't get loud and scare Alice.
He had finished talking and we all knelt to pray.   Ruthie's mother took my hand and put it on her shoulder and asked me to pray for her.   I started praying and the power of the Holy Spirit went up my arm and enveloped my entire body.   I jumped up, dancing and shouting and speaking in tongues.   Oh what joy!   I could hear Dale quietly laughing and asking Alice if she believed this was real.   When the power lifted, I was standing directly in front of Alice and I told her I had never been so happy in all my life!!
When I arrived home, I told Ralph what happened.    I felt a glow and felt like I was walking in air.   That power lasted another day!   Praise God!
Betty and Dale saw their dream come true and went to Africa.   They went on their first mission trip around 1956-1958. 	God blessed their ministry.   One morning I felt a burden to pray for Betty. 	I knelt down on the kitchen floor and asked God to help her in her time of need and to bless her family.   The burden lifted.
When Betty and Dale returned on furlough, she invited me to come over for tea.
As we were visiting, she said, "Oh, I want to tell you of an experience I had in Africa."    I
knew it was about the burden she had the morning I prayed.
Betty was so ill and Dale had gone to another town.   She had five children.   She asked the Lord what she was doing in this land??   Suddenly the power of God came upon her and filled her with such joy and love that she felt she had all the help she would ever need ... no matter what the circumstances or where she might be!!   Another miracle, praise the Lord!
That's  been many years ago, but just in 2006, one of the church leaders in Africa
invited Dale back to where he ministered to show him some of the results of Christianity! May God continue to multiply the souls that have been saved.   God, we praise you for Betty and Dale's  ministry!
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MY SKI TRIP




Our young people were getting ready for a ski trip and I was going as a chaperone for the girls.   We were going to Breckenridge in beautiful Colorado.
I listened to the girls as they talked about the slopes and their lessons.   Some already knew how to ski and I watched out the windows as some of the young people, boys and girls, were learning to ski.   It was so funny and we all had many good laughs.
There were a few adults who came and among them were Maxine and Bill and their
daughter and son-in-law, Jean and Larry.   Larry was a sports coach at a high school and had not been in good health, so they all came for a week's  vacation, especially for Larry's sake, that the mountain air might help him.
One day, Larry asked me if he could give me a lesson in skiing, so I went out on the "shortest slope".   He explained about the poles and how to stop.   So I took the poles and started down the slope.   What he didn't tell me was to lean forward, so consequently, I was leaning backwards with both poles up in the air.   He hollered, "Lean forward!"    How could I when I was leaning so far backwards?   Then he yelled, "Evelyn! You're going to fall!"   I remembered some of the girls saying their teachers said, "When you think you're going to fall, say, "I am not going to fall!"   So I said, "I am not going to fall!" and that put me in a forward position.   But I was at the bottom of the slope and I came to a halt!   Can you believe I was still standing?
I looked back up the slope at my teacher and he was lying in the snow laughing!
He told me later he wished he had a video with those poles of mine in the air and leaning so far back ....then a direct stop!   That was my first and last ski lesson.
Later that year, we were at church and I was at the front standing by Maxine and Bill.   I wondered why they did not introduce their friend.   After a few minutes, "the friend" spoke up and said, "Evelyn, you don't  know me, do you?"   It was Larry, my ski teacher!   He had gained weight and he looked wonderful! 	He said his week 's vacation had helped him and he had regained his health in the months following.   Praise the Lord!
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OUR EVANGELIST BOB




Ralph and I had been living in Oklahoma City for several years.   A couple, Tom and Dessie, came to visit us.   They lived in California and were on vacation, but they stopped by for a night to visit us.
It was Wednesday night and I wanted them to hear our pastor, but I remembered he wasn't going to be there.   We decided we would go anyway and show them our church and hear the visiting preacher.   We walked down the aisle to about the fourth row from the front.   We were visiting, waiting for the service to begin.   I looked up and saw the evangelist sitting on the platform.  He had a big smile on his face.   After a short time I looked at him again and he started smiling again.   That happened four or five times and I decided I wasn't going to look at him because it looked like he was smiling at me.   Dessie, Tom, Ralph and I joined in the singing.
The evangelist was walking to the pulpit and I bent my head down saying, "Oh, no!
Oh, no!"   Ralph and our guests didn't know what in the world was happening to me. Then the evangelist said, "I've always been told how friendly people were in Oklahoma, but I've been smiling and smiling and I've gotten the cold shoulder."
I had recognized him when he started walking toward the pulpit.  He had held a
revival for our church when we lived in California.   Tom and Dessie knew him years before he ever came for that revival.   Tom was saved in the revival that Evangelist Bob held in our church in California!   Evangelist Bob had gained a lot of weight and we hadn't seen him for several years.  He went on to say he was so happy to see four of his best friends, Ralph and Evelyn and Tom and Dessie.   You should have seen my husband and Tom and Dessie when he called our names.   Oh, what a surprise!   They recognized him then!
After church, they came to our home.   We had such a good time.   Evangelist Bob said when he called our church for a one night service, he meant to ask the pastor if he knew Ralph and Evelyn but he forgot.   He said, "Can you imagine my surprise when you both came in and Tom and Dessie were with you?"   Another wonderful miracle from
God!
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DAVID



David was in our Junior Department in Church for Sunday School. 	He was such a good looking boy and dressed nice.   He was very faithful in attendance in Sunday School.   He gave his teachers a few problems.
One Sunday, I was walking through our Junior Auditorium and there was David with his jacket over his head lying on the floor under one of the benches.   I sat down on the bench and asked David, "What in the world are you doing?"    He said the teacher had put him out of the classroom.    We talked for a while and I decided I was going to visit his home and meet his parents.
That week, I visited David's home and found out his parents were divorced and his
mother was making plans to marry again.   I asked her about the man and she said he drank some and didn't  have a job but she felt he would change as soon as they married.
I was so upset and I told her that David didn't  need a father like that and I preached to her about the need for a stable, Christian dad.
Don, a junior worker and also with Royal Rangers ( a boys youth group), took the
boys to Turner Falls to camp.   David was one of the happy campers.   They had lots of activities and spiritual services.
On the way home, they always stopped at a store in Pauls Valley for drinks and
treats.   When they arrived in Oklahoma City, Don received a call from the store in Pauls Valley saying they had a picture of one of his boys in their security camera stealing an item. Don went to David's home and they drove all the way back so that David could apologize and pay for what he had taken.
On Sunday night, a few years later, a tall good-looking young man came walking down to the front of the church.   He asked me if I remembered him.   I did. ....it was David!   He told me he got in more trouble and was sent to Boys Town.   They helped him and he became a Christian!   Praise the Lord for His answer to prayer!
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STEVE




How could I ever forget you?   He came whistling across the street to our Intermediate    Sunday School department. ..always late!   I decided to find out more about Steve so instead of going to his class, I asked him if he would help me get my records ready by counting the money.	 He seemed so surprised, but pleased.
Steve always came with his granddad, but he always disappeared to a restaurant
and got back in time for part of his class and the church service.   I asked about his parents. He said his stepdad would slap him and the other children away from the table to the floor! I asked him why his mom didn't  hit him (his dad) over the head with a chair.   His stepdad had been in prison and was a rough person.   One day he took Steve for a walk over a railroad trestle that crossed a huge river.   He suddenly dropped Steve in the water below even though he knew he couldn't  swim!!   Steve almost drowned but he made it out.
He decided he would go to his grandparents to live and not return home.   His
granddad took a real interest in Steve.   His grandma wasn't  well.   His granddad fixed up his room and turned the garage into a craft and hobby shop.   He always brought him to church with him.
We brought Steve home with us as my boys, Ronny and Don, were near his age. We enjoyed him so much.
We were sitting behind Steve one Sunday evening and so we stood for the altar
service.   I noticed Steve's knuckles were white as he held on to the bench in front of him. I decided that I would step up beside him and ask him if he would like to give his heart and life to Christ.   He went directly to the altar.   Joy, joy!
Steve went into the service a few years later.   We had moved our department to the
second floor of church.   One Sunday, I looked up and saw a sailor standing across the room at one of the doors.   As he got closer, he asked, "Do you remember me?"   Oh, Steve, how could I ever forget you!   He was still living for God!   A precious miracle!
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OUR FRIENDS




It was a cold, wintry day in 1961, and while I was rocking my little year old daughter, Debby Joy, I turned on the weather channel.   It showed the city of Guymon, Oklahoma.   There was so much snow!   Out loud I said, "I would never live there!"   Do you know, that very spring we moved there.....we were living in Guymon!!   Ralph had been transferred to put a sheet metal shop in Guymon while he worked on putting duct work in a nearby college.
We met some wonderful people at the Assembly of God church.   Among them
were Martin and Dora, also another couple, Yancy and Delmer.   Martin was trying to sell us a house as he was part owner of a construction company.    One night, as he was talking to us, I said, "Martin, just as hard as you are trying to sell us a house, we are trying to win you to Christ."    We told him he had wonderful sales ability and a great personality and that we knew he could win others to Jesus.
Martin probably didn't want to keep hearing "our sermons", but he was determined to sell us a house!   So even though Ralph and I knew we would only be there a year and a half (the college job would be finished and we would be back in Oklahoma City), WE BOUGHT A HOUSE!
Our church scheduled a revival.   In the meantime, there was a state church meeting in Oklahoma City so Wilma Adcock and I were going to attend.   As we started to walk into the meeting, the evangelist, who was to hold our revival, met us and said he couldn't come.   We were disappointed, but we enjoyed the state meeting.
Wilma wanted to visit a bookstore that was nearby. 	I introduced her to the owner, Reverend Riggs, my former pastor.   As we were shopping, Wilma asked, "Why don't you ask him if he will come and preach a revival for our church?"   I replied, "You're the pastor's wife, why don't  you ask him?"   She did, and he agreed to come.
Brother Riggs stayed in our home when he came.   We had five children, but he didn't mind the noise.. .in fact, I think he enjoyed it.   I'm sure he fasted that week as he stayed in his room most of the time praying and reading his Bible when he was there.
We went to church every morning for a prayer meeting.   One morning, I had a vision.   I saw a bunk bed with flowers decorating the top bunk.   There was Martin, our good friend, lying there smiling.   On the bottom bunk was Delmer, Martin's best friend. I was trying to understand what it meant.   Suddenly the Lord showed me.   Delmer had
once known the Lord and was backslidden.   Martin was lying on a "flowery bed of ease".
If Delmer didn't come back to the Lord, Martin wouldn't  be saved!
I started praying for Delmer to be saved first.   On Saturday night, some of us went over to talk to Delmer.   Praise the Lord, he went to the altar.
I went back to talk to Martin.   He was sitting on the back row.   I sat at the opposite end of the bench and I asked him, with a happy little laugh, what he was going to do now. He informed me that it was not funny and said, "What can I do with the whole church praying and my best friend down there at the altar?"    I was very serious and said, "You are at the end of your rope, aren't  you?"
The next night was Brother Riggs' last night of the revival.   The next day, after the morning service, we had a dinner for Brother Riggs at the downtown community building.
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I saw Martin and Delmer coming up the sidewalk as I drove to a parking spot.   I put my box of food on the hood of the car and as they came by, I asked Martin if he would carry it. He was drinking a coke and I reached over and took it and as he was walking along with my box, I said, "Oh, Martin, this is just like Jesus!   He takes your heavy burden and gives you something better!" as I continued drinking his coke!
That night, we went to church early so I could work in the nursery.  Dora, Martin's beautiful wife, came in and told me that her husband was going to be saved.   He had tried to take a nap that afternoon, but he was so under conviction he couldn't sleep.   Delmer and the girls offered to pray with him, but he wanted to be saved at church.   We were excited!
As soon as Brother Riggs finished preaching, Martin was at the altar!!   What a wonderful conversion!  His heavy burden of sin had left him and he was so happy!   We all were happy and Brother Riggs was laughing!  What a great last night of our wonderful revival!!
The next night, we had a sectional meeting at our church.   The special singing, a
film and announcements were over when Martin and Delmer arrived.  The speaker stepped up to the pulpit and there was a complete silence when Martin stood up and said, "Brother, I've just got to testify!"   He told how happy he was on his wedding day, how happy he was when his son was born, how happy he was when his daughter was born,
but. .. he said, "I got saved last night down there at that altar and this has been the happiest day of my life!!"   What a time of shouting, praising God and rejoicing we had!!  He became a preacher overnight!
He was a great worker in the church and outside the church.   We moved back to
Oklahoma City and Martin and Dora and their children, and Ralph and I and our children
visited often on weekends.  It was so much fun.  Martin was president of the Oklahoma Building Association and he came to Oklahoma City every month.   He always came to visit us, so we kept up with our families.   Martin won many souls to Christ.   We are so blessed to know his family.   WHAT MIRACLES!!
We went back to Guymon to sell our home.  We had advertised it in the paper. We didn't know if we should stay at our house or go to the church.   We decided that we would go to church and worship with our friends.   After the service we returned to our house.   There was a couple waiting to see our house and they bought it.   Praise God for
another miracle!
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MARGARET'S GREAT BLESSING




We enjoyed living in Guymon for a year and a half in 1961 to 1962.   We had so many wonderful friends, among them a lady named Margaret.    She had a deaf son, Don.   He could "sign" and he had been educated in a school for the deaf so that we could understand part of his words.   He loved our family, especially my son Don, and they both communicated well as my son learned to use sign language also.
One day Margaret asked me to take a drive with her as she wanted to talk to
me.   We drove out to the country and she parked the car.   She came right to the point. She wanted to know about "the baptism of the Holy Spirit".   I was so happy that she had this desire!
First I told her how wonderful it was to receive that power and it was given to us to
witness and there were great gifts of the Spirit (I Corinthians 12) to help others.   Then I
shared with Margaret some examples of friends and people who received the Spirit.
One night we were praying for a seventeen year old boy in California, Leroy.   It was getting late.   Ralph and I almost stayed as long as Leroy stayed and Leroy was praying earnestly.   He finally said, "I'm  so tired.   I can't pray any longer." And he laid back on the floor.   He no sooner touched the floor than the Holy Ghost power came upon him!   He jumped up and was speaking in tongues and jumping for joy!   If he was tired, you sure couldn't  tell it!   What a great experience!    And he was so happy.   We were blessed too.   He later became a minister!
We had a lady in our Oklahoma City church nicknamed "Amen Charlie".    She,
Thelma, was one of my best friends.   She spoke in the Spirit and cried and praised the Lord, loudly, in our church.   Whenever anyone came to the altar to pray for the baptism of the Holy Spirit, it seemed that Thelma, Ralph and I would usually be the ones who stayed late to pray with the person that one of us had started praying with in the beginning of the altar service.
One time, we stayed late with a young deaf man.   Thelma was "loud" a lot of
times, so I'm sure the man heard her praying.   All of a sudden, he jumped up from his knees and I don't think I ever say anybody jump higher than he did!   He was praising God and jumping and talking in tongues.   Oh, how glorious an experience he had.   Praise the Lord!
There was a revival at the City Auditorium and Oral Roberts, the evangelist, told all
of us workers to stay with the person we would be praying with at the closing of the services.   One night, I was praying with a young lady, Janice, beautifully dressed and earnestly praying.   Thelma and Ralph came to find me.   All the people had gone except the janitor, and he told us we could stay as long as we wanted to because he worked all night.
Janice was from another city in Oklahoma and one of the people from the bus she
was to ride came in to tell us to pray as long as she needed us.   They would wait.
Janice took off her fur coat, then she took off her high heels.   Thelma, Ralph and I prayed rather softly with her as she was still earnestly praying.   Finally I asked her if she had ever received the Holy Spirit.   She said, "No", but then she added she wanted to receive the baptism, so we started praying for her to receive that blessed, wonderful
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experience.   She changed positions several times as she continued to pray.  Suddenly she started shouting and pounding the chair where she was kneeling.   She started speaking with tongues and praising the Lord!
Then we found out why she wanted to feel the Holy Ghost power in her life!   She was in the war service and was going to be shipped overseas.   She needed God 's power in her life and she prayed until she received!!   It was so wonderful!
The janitor told us later he was in the basement (we were on the second floor) and he could hear Janice shouting and praising the Lord.   Our God is so good!!
After I shared the above instances of the Holy Spirit working, Margaret was still afraid she might be embarrassed, but I assured her the Holy Spirit would never do anything embarrassing.  After we finished talking, she said that whenever she received this gift, she was going to call me wherever in the world I might be.
One Monday morning, about two years later, I received a telephone call and the lady said, "Do you remember someone telling you that after I received the Holy Ghost, I was going to call you no matter where you were living?"   I immediately said, "Margaret!" She said the evangelist was on the last night of the revival.  He told all the congregation that there was a person who hadn't received the Holy Ghost and that they had planned not to come to the altar, but if they would come, they would receive the Holy Ghost that night. Margaret knew it was her, so she decided to go forward.   She said she was on the floor and being so blessed!
She could hear her son saying that his mother was fifty-three years old and had just received the baptism as he was running up and down the aisles.   After she sat up, she realized her wig had slipped over to one side but she didn 't care.   She "plopped" it on straight.  Then she said, "Oh, Evelyn, why didn't you tell me how wonderful that experience would be!!"
I don't think there is a way to tell it in words, you just have to experience it! Halleluiah!
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AL, OUR ANSWER TO PRAYER




Our Sunday School class visited the jail to hold services for the men. Usually the men, after three weeks of incarceration, would either hand us notes or ask us to pray for their families.
We had this one young man, Al, who never asked for anything.    He was in a cell
with a group of men and always sat in the back playing cards.   If he saw any of the fellows smoking, he would get up and ask them to put their cigarettes out.
On this Sunday afternoon, while playing my accordion, I was wondering what Al believed.   I heard a voice say, "He is a Catholic."    I thought everyone heard, but it was just for me through the Spirit. 	As soon as the speaker finished, I stepped up to the bars and I said, "Al, if you don't  come up and talk to me, I'm coming back to you."   He came, and I asked him what he believed.   He informed me he was an atheist.   I told him I knew he wasn't.    He was so taken by surprise, but he said, "I was a Catholic, but not any more." He had gotten into serious trouble and felt forsaken as no one helped him.   Ralph and I tried to pray with him, but he wouldn't.
The next time we saw Al, he was in a cell by himself.   He hadn't  been a model
inmate, but we were glad to get to visit with him.   Again, we tried to win him to Christ, but he said we didn't  know what he had done and he needed to make some situations right with others.   I told him he was "putting his cart before the horse".   I explained to him if he would come to Christ first, then God would help him straighten out his life.   Ralph talked to him also, but he wouldn't pray.
One morning, someone called us from the jail and asked us if we could come immediately.    Al was being transferred and wanted to be saved before he left.   I called Ralph at work and we arrived to find Al in a cell with another prisoner.
Al told us that a miracle had happened!   He was skilled in his field of work and the Army needed him.   They would drop all charges if he would come in immediately.    Al told us that it was only God who could have done this miracle for him!!
We knelt on one side of the bars while he knelt on the other.   Every scripture we quoted, he wanted to see it in the Bible.   We knew those scriptures so well, but we were so excited we couldn't  remember where they were in the Bible.   So we would quote the verses and the other prisoner (who we felt was only there because he was homeless) would tell us where to find those scriptures.    Al prayed and we got to see him saved.   Praise the Lord!   What a precious time!
We moved back to Oklahoma City and one day I got a phone call from Al.   The
troop train had stopped for a short time and Al remembered  we lived in Oklahoma City. He called to tell us he was still living for the Lord and that everything was going well.   We were so happy to hear from him.
We serve a wonderful God!!
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GOD PROVIDES




Ralph was assigned to another job at Fort Sill in 1967.   We were going to look for an apartment at Lawton, Oklahoma.   We found a townhouse with a beautiful pool and a gate from our back door that led across our driveway to the Sonic!   Perfect place!   We figured we would need fifteen hundred dollars to get moved.
We didn't have the cash right then, but I knew I could borrow it.   I decided to pray
about it first, so as soon as I finished my errands, I planned to get on my knees as soon as I got home.   As I entered, the phone was ringing.   My sister, Vera, was calling to tell me that our dad was planning to pay my sister, Ardyce's, house payment and other bills since she had been ill.  There were four of us girls and whatever he gave to Ardyce, he was going to give each of us an equal amount.   She told me it was quite a bit, twelve hundred fifty dollars.   Praise the Lord!
I thought of the Bible verse, "Before they call, I will answer, while they are yet speaking, I will hear."
We moved to Lawton the following week.   I entered our apartment and in a couple
of minutes someone was knocking at my door.   It was my sister, Vera.   She was delivering a load of material on Ralph's job.   She opened her purse and handed me a check.   She was smiling as she said, "Sis, I thought you might need this.  Dad decided to pay something else, so here is a check for fifteen hundred fifty dollars!
It's wonderful how God answers prayer!  Thank you, Lord, for another miracle!
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LITTLE, BUT POWERFUL




Somehow, one of the knobs on my stove had a lot of "play" on it and I couldn't  get it to turn to the numbers and stay there.
One afternoon in 2005, I had a repair man working on a dishwasher appliance and
as he was leaving, I asked him if he could put the knob on my range where it would stay. He took it off and said I had a little black plastic piece missing on the inside. 	He removed another knob and showed my granddaughter and me what was missing.   As he was talking, he removed another knob and said, "Would you believe this?!   Here are two pieces of the black plastic pieces we need.   I can put one of them on the other knob!"
Can you believe that a miracle like this could happen?   Praise the Lord, all four of the knobs are perfect!
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HIS NAME IS RALPH



Ralph and I listened to the 700 Club often.   I had been telling Ralph what a miracle it was, that even though he had experienced three major strokes, he still had a good right hand and arm.
When Ralph was shot down and couldn't  find his parachute, he cried out, "God
help me!" as he fell on his knees from the upper turret.   That's  when a power from God took his right hand and arm and he lifted a huge stack of ammo that had fallen on the floor from one of the gunners.   Underneath was his chute and he attached it to his harness and climbed up to the escape hatch when the tail gunner was about to pull the pin.   About that time, they got another hit and the whole tail was blown off.   Then they both stepped off and parachuted to safety.
I never really thought about Ralph's  three major strokes and still having his good
right arm until years later.   As we were listening to the 700 Club in 2005, I told Ralph it was such a miracle, but inwardly I was listening to Gordon prophesy, hoping he would say something about Ralph.
About that time, Gordon said, "I see a man who has so many things wrong with him
that he thinks there isn't anything that he can do any more.   I think his name is Ralph." I nearly fell off the coffee table where I was sitting beside my husband in his
wheelchair.    Gordon went on to say that God wasn't  finished with him yet.
Halleluiah, he was right!   Another answer.   To God be the glory.
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OUR WONDERFUL CHILDREN




God gave Ralph and me five of the most wonderful children.   We had such a good time raising our family.
We lived in California when we had Ronny and Don.   Marilyn, Lana and Debby were born in Oklahoma.   Ralph's parents, Alice and Eual, lived in California the first four years of Ronny and Don's lives.   They were such wonderful grandparents.    We spent a lot of time at the beach, in church activities and at Ralph and Eual's garage where they had "Automotive Service".    I think Ron and Don enjoyed being mechanics (they had their own business) as much as Ralph and Eual!
We moved back to Oklahoma, built our first home and our three girls were added to the family.   They were all healthy and we enjoyed life.   My parents, Christine and Art Hoover, were such good grandparents.    My dad was saved the first year we moved back.
I called Alice and Eual "Alice and Dad".   They stayed in California, but they came
back and visited us every year.   Can you imagine, beside the vacations, they bought all five of the children's  clothes, and gave Ralph and me new outfits every time we went to California.   The only things we bought for all of our five kids were shoes!   All their dress clothes and school clothes were bought year around through high school!!
One time, Alice and Dad were here on vacation.   We had moved "out to the country in the city".    It is a beautiful wooded area.   I still live here after almost fifty years. We bought the house and about two acres.   It had a bed in the wall in the living room.
The den had been turned into a bedroom at night, and then we had one bedroom for Ralph and me.   Alice and Dad had left for California, but they were visiting some relatives a short distance away.   They turned around and came back to our house the next day.   They decided we needed two more bedrooms and a bathroom.   They made the arrangements and we had two beautiful bedrooms and a bath!!   Thank you, Lord, for another miracle!
Ralph and I were married for sixty-three and a half years.   What a privilege and an honor to be the wife of a POW husband.   What a privilege and an honor to be able to take care of my POW husband in our own home.   What a blessing from God that I was always able to care for Ralph.   He had a double stroke, and for the last eight and a half years of his life, he couldn't walk, or talk, or eat.   We fed him through a tube.   He couldn't  sit up except in a wheelchair.   He was a wonderful patient and he always had his wonderful smile for years.
The last three months, Ralph started getting weaker.   We were still taking care of
him at home with nurses coming twice a day.   Then the last week, he started feeling bad. We took him to the hospital after Christmas.    He went to heaven the last day of December
2006.   He spent New Year's Eve in heaven.   Praise the Lord!
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Dear Evelyn and family,

January 3, 2007

Dad called me last night and wanted me to give you a few statistics on how far-reaching Ralph's influences have been.
Ralph led dad in the sinner's prayer in our own living room one evening. 	Dad went on to become a missionary to first Ghana, W. Africa in 1956 with
many converts. 	Then later to establish the Assem­
blies of God with the government in Kenya, E. Af­ rica. 	In 2001, the Kenya A/G dignitaries invited dad back to see how far the work had come. 	At that time there were already 1,500 churches, 20 districts, 180 section, 96 permanent buildings, 117 plots to build
on, 400 rented halls, 240 ordained ministers, 180 li­
censed ministers, 760 Bible School students and there are 2,200 pastoring. 	In 2001, the A/G's had a membership of 200,000.
AND THIS IS JUST ONE testimony of a life influenced through Ralph Holtzclaw.
Then, my daughter, Christi, was also power­ fully influenced by the testimony Ralph gave here years ago. 	She learned just how precious the Ameri­ can flag is and what it stands for to so many service­ men.
You, Evelyn, and Ralph have been such a pre­
cious influence and testimony to me and my whole family for all these years. 	Thank you!


Much love, Daleca



(These were our neighbors on S.W. 52nd in Oklahoma City when the children were small and growing up)
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TRIBUTE TO RALPH HOLTZCLAW
                                                                  by Pendleton Woods 
                                                                                             January 3, 2007



Today we are saying goodbye to one of our greatest---Ralph Holtzclaw.   He was a great man in many ways.  He was a man of talent. ..a man of many talents.  But more than that, he was a man who shared his talents, his time, and his resources to help others, to help his community, to help his country and to serve his Lord.
He gave to his country in many ways, best remembered being in World War II,
when he served in the Army Air Corps in Europe, his plane was shot down over enemy territory in Italy, and he spent many grueling, starving months as a prisoner of war.	Some of the physical problems of the combat and POW experience remained with him all of his life, but they never deterred him from being a man of great achievement, and a loyal servant of his country.  I have never gone to his home when the American Flag was not flying high in his yard.
And he never forgot his fellow comrades in arms and his fellow ex-Prisoners Of War.   I first met Ralph when our ex-Prisoner of War organization of Central Oklahoma was reorganized, and shortly afterwards I joined the organization.   At that time Ralph was serving as the chaplain for the chapter.
But that was not all.   He served as chairman of our ex-POW committee which assisted the ailing and handicapped men and women in the Oklahoma City Veterans Hospital.   He went to the facility regularly to help the veterans and to serve their physical and spiritual needs.   He continued in this capacity until finally his own health gave way.
It is no wonder that seven years ago he was named by the American Ex-Prisoners of
War organization as the Outstanding Ex-Prisoner of War in the nation.
But service to fellow veterans was only one of his many contributions.  He was a man of many talents, but his greatest talent was music.   I have never heard a singer, either in person, on radio, on TV, or in the movies, with a greater voice and a greater talent for singing than Ralph Holtzclaw.  And while many other singers were choosing songs of negative impact and lack of taste, Ralph Holtzclaw chose only the best, and those with a positive message.   And he shared his talent with others throughout his life.
I have personally called upon him, time and again, to share his music in projects which serve others and which serve our community, and he has always responded with enthusiasm.   He did so, not because there was something in it for him, but because he enjoyed sharing with others.   I remember, as just one example, when Oklahoma City Beautiful, serving the appearance and environmental needs of Oklahoma City, brought to the Myriad Convention Center as a fundraiser for its projects, the nationally acclaimed Dancing Waters, which combine moving water, changing of lighted color and music.   I asked Ralph to come to sing and to lead the music.  He was happy to do so, and came for every performance, because he knew it helped our community.
Ralph's health hit the bottom near the beginning of the century, and took away his greatest talent---his singing voice---and for the past eight and a half years he could neither sing or talk, although it was obvious he continued to recognize and appreciate his friends.
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But I cannot fully praise Ralph without also saying a word about the help and devotion of his family, and of his extended family, during the eight and a half years of his final illness.   I serve on a board of directors which meets in the morning once a month on the west side of Oklahoma City, and I made it my habit to go directly following each board meeting to the home of Ralph Holtzclaw.   I would bring my guitar-playing daughter with me to play and sing for Ralph.   But the thing which impressed me the most in making those visits was that we never were there without some member of his extended
family---sons, daughters, sons-in-law and daughters-in-law, grandchildren or
great-grandchildren---either being there or dropping in to help Ralph.  Never have I seen a
more loyal and caring family.   Certainly he and Evelyn raised their own children well.
So today it is our privilege to bid farewell to a great American patriot, lover of God, friend of others, and outstanding family man---Ralph Holtzclaw.
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THE 44TH AMERICAN EX-POW NATIONAL CONVENTION




The American Ex-Prisoners of War National Convention was being held on September
10- 15, 1991 at Tulsa, Oklahoma in their beautiful Convention Center.  We were so excited and we made plans to make it the best ever!
We decided we would have a Happy Hour every afternoon, so we made homemade
cookies and coffee.  We were going to make sure that no POW would be walking around by himself without someone joining him to keep him company.
We worked to make the "1500 Ditty Bags" unusual and pertaining to our state.  We started early in the year.  Oklahoma is noted for its Rose Rocks, and they are beautiful.  We bought some and also dug in areas where they are found.   Our visitors found them in their bags and came back to our information station to see if we had any more as they wanted to take them to their grandchildren.
Ralph, my husband, and I worked in the information center.  We had a great time!  We
had many helpers and met so many interesting people.
One day Ralph saw a POW walking alone, so he went over to join him.  What a surprise when they found out that they had been roommates in one of the German POW Camps!  Later, Charles' wife told me that he had not felt well and almost did not come to the convention, but after he met my husband, he came back to the hotel "just beaming"!  Praise the Lord for the miracle!
Ralph had a POW friend, Francis, his wife, and two other couples coming from Texas.
We wanted to sit together at the banquet on the last night, but I had asked those in charge of the seating for many changes and was too embarrassed to ask.  The six of us did other things together and had a good time.
The night of the banquet, we were all seated at tables of eight.  Ralph and I found
ourselves seated in the middle of the banquet hall.  We did not know anyone at our table, but we had a great time visiting.  Another couple came down the aisle, and they knew the couples seated next to and behind Ralph and me.  They were so excited to see each other.  After visiting a while, I asked them if they would like to trade places with Ralph and me.  They were so glad to do so. They went to get their iced tea glasses.  When they returned, they told us to go straight down the aisle.  They were on the last row of the banquet hall.
Can you imagine our surprise when we arrived at the last table and there were our three couples from Texas!!  Francis said, "Evelyn Holtzclaw, what shenanigan did you pull to get here?''  I told him I had not done anything, but "God arranged it all!"
Out of fifteen hundred people, He gave us that table with our friends!  What a wonderful miracle!
We did have a great convention!
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MY DEAR FRIEND ELEANORE

After my husband, Ralph, went to heaven on December 31, 2006, I started thinking of some of the wonderful answers to prayer that God had done in our lives through the years.  As soon as I had finished the business that needed to be done, I started writing the stories as I remembered them.  I wanted to write  Miracles, To God Be the Glory so my family would always have these records.
I remembered one time our church had asked Ralph and me to both give the "war experience" as a testimony.  Afterwards, the church gave us some audiotapes of the testimony and I gave copies to my children and grandchildren.
One weekend as I worked on my book, my family wanted to go to a Denver Broncos game.  They love Oklahoma University, but they also like the Denver Broncos.  My son, Don, and his wife, Debi, my grandson, Joseph, and my great-grandson, Mason, flew out to Colorado to see a game.  I was busy, hoping I could get my book finished by Christmas so I could give all my children a copy for their gift.  I needed help on the typing.  It was November and while all the Bronco fans were gone, Joseph's  wife, Gwendolyn, and her mother, Eleanore, came to visit me.
We had visited a few minutes when Eleanore said, "Evelyn, your grandson gave me an
audiotape of your husband and you giving your testimony about World War II, about Ralph being shot down, about being a prisoner of war, and then coming home.  I have typed it up for you."  It was fourteen typewritten pages long!  She told me her father and other members of her family were in the service and she was very interested in veterans and their families.  I was so thrilled.
She also informed me she was not working the following week and if I had any more
typing she would be glad to do it for me.  I did have quite a lot of typing to be done so I got it all together.  She got it all done and had it ready to go to the printing company!
My grandson, Joseph, made the cover and got everything to the printers.  Thanks to my dear friend, Eleanore, and everyone else who helped along the way. It was a miracle!  The books were finished in plenty of time for Christmas.  So you see, my book was truly a miracle from beginning to end!  Praise the Lord!
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